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Introduction


This book is about people who lived in Ballsbridge, Donnybrook, Sandymount Ringsend and Irishtown. Historically most of this area was part of the estate of the Earl of Pembroke. During the nineteenth century, for local government purposes, townships were formed in Dublin, and the area became part of the Pembroke Township, and an urban district in 1899. A Local Government Act of 1930, dissolved Pembroke Urban District, and added it to the City of Dublin.


I hope that readers will rediscover people who who lived in the area and who appear in this book. I sought advice from friends, librarians and archivists in relation to who should be included, but it was not possible to include everyone they suggested. I enjoyed finding family members, who generously gave of their time, and provided me with information and photographs. The select bibliography lists the major sources I used in my research – books, newspaper and journal articles, together with online resources.


The choice of individuals for inclusion in this book is, of necessity, subjective. The earliest biography dates from the eighteenth century and is that of Spranger Barry, an Irish actor who was celebrated on the London stage, and who is buried in Westminster Abbey. The most modern entry was for the late T.K. Whitaker, renowned civil servant and Secretary to the Department of Finance during the 1950s and ’60s, who died in 2017. I chose people from the area who, in my view, led interesting and illustrious lives and with who readers might not be familiar.


From the eighteenth century, the aristocratic classes in Dublin society lived on the north side of the River Liffey. However, when James Fitzgerald (1722–1773), Duke of Leinster, built a substantial home on the south side (now Leinster House), far from other aristocratic residences, on the north side, he was soon followed south of the Liffey, just as he had predicted. Many of the wealthy inhabitants of the City of Dublin migrated to the south-side suburbs in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. The professional, business, political and artistic classes built individual villa-style houses, laid out on leafy roads with large gardens. They have continued to live on the tree-lined avenues, characteristic of this elegant area of Dublin.


Dr Beatrice M. Doran
Dublin, 2020
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Born Mary Aikenhead in Cork in 1787, her parents were Dr David Aikenhead, who owned an apothecary’s shop in the city, and his wife Mary (née Stackpole), the daughter of a Cork merchant. There were four children in Mary’s family, three girls and a boy. Mary’s father was a Protestant and her mother a Catholic. Their children were all brought up in the Protestant faith of their father. As a child, Mary was not considered very strong, and as happened so often in those days, she was fostered out to a Mary Rorke, who lived on Eason’s Hill, Shandon, Cork. Mary Rorke and her family were Catholics, and as Mary Aikenhead grew up there, she attended Mass every Sunday with the Rorke family, which she loved, and generally partook of their other religious observances. Her father and mother visited her every week. Finally, in 1793 when she was 6 years old, it was decided that she should re-join the family at their home in Daunt’s Square in the city of Cork. Her parents employed Mary Rorke as the family nanny, and she moved to the Aikenhead household together with her husband, who became David Aikenhead’s coachman.


When Mary’s father was dying, he became a Catholic on his deathbed, and later, on 6 June 1802, when she was 15, Mary too was received into the Catholic Church. Her brother and sisters also became Catholics some years later. Mary was greatly influenced by her aunt, Mrs Rebecca Gorman, her mother’s sister, who was a Catholic, and she frequently accompanied her to daily Mass. After her father died, Mary helped her mother run the household, and became involved in their financial affairs, which would stand to her later in life, and contribute to her business acumen, as founder of the Religious Sisters of Charity. While still in Cork she and a friend became aware of the extreme poverty in the city, and they collected food and clothes from their friends and redistributed them to the poor. In Cork as a young girl, Mary had a good social life due to her family’s standing in society, so she attended balls, concerts etc. with her many friends and family.


Through the influence of her friend Anna Maria O’Brien, with whom she stayed in Dublin, Mary met Dr Daniel Murray, Coadjutor Bishop of Dublin, who went on to become Archbishop of Dublin. This was a period in Irish history when there was growing unemployment and a number of outbreaks of cholera in the city. Dr Murray had a great interest in helping the poor and was keen to establish an order of nuns to visit and look after the poor of Dublin in their own homes. Mary agreed to join such an order if it was to be established in Ireland. Dr Murray had identified Mary as the leader of such a religious order.


Mary and a companion, Alicia Walsh, set off for York in the north of England in 1812, where they entered the novitiate of the Institute of the Blessed Virgin, Bar Convent, York, for a period of three years. They returned to Dublin in 1815, and Mary founded the Congregation of the Irish Sisters of Charity, and at the Archbishop of Dublin’s request, they took over an orphanage in North William Street. Mary had taken the name Sister Mary Augustine on her profession, and with the founding of the Irish Sisters of Charity she became Superior General of the Order. She was most impressed with the Rule of St Ignatius, the founder of the Jesuit Order, which was adhered to by the nuns at the Bar convent in York. She decided to adapt that rule for her new religious order in Dublin. As a member of the Irish Sisters of Charity, nuns took the traditional vows of poverty, chastity and obedience, in addition to a vow to devote their lives to the service of the poor.


As more and more young women began joining the Irish Sisters of Charity, they needed to move to larger accommodation and they found such accommodation in Stanhope Street, where they are to be found to this very day. From their foundation, the Irish Sisters of Charity spread to thirteen others during the lifetime of their founder, including one in Australia where the nuns worked among women convicts and their children. As the number of nuns increased, so did the requests for the Sisters to open additional foundations. Mary returned to Cork in 1826 to oversee the setting up of a new convent. Mary’s sister, Anne, had joined the Irish Sisters of Charity too, and she became involved in visiting the poor in the North Parish. This was a time in Cork when people were very poor and many caught typhus fever and extreme forms of infection. The many deaths at the time included Anne, who died at the Stanhope Street Convent in 1828.


In 1831, when Mary was 44 years old, she became ill with acute arthritis that left her an invalid for the rest of her life. She also suffered from bouts of acute bronchitis. Besides ensuring that the Irish Sisters of Charity continued to help the poor, Mary also had a great desire to set up a hospital to look after the poor of Dublin. In 1834, with the help of the Archbishop of Dublin, Dr Daniel Murray, St Vincent’s Hospital was founded in a house on St Stephen’s Green that had belonged to the Earl of Meath. Mary bought it with a £3,000 donation. It is interesting that at that time St Stephen’s Green was very much the home of the Dublin elite.


Mother Mary Augustine, as she was known in religion, spent the best part of thirty years as an invalid, and yet she managed to run the Irish Sisters of Charity congregation during that time. The nuns were responsible for the establishment of schools, hospitals and orphanages for people in need. They were involved in visiting the poor and needy, both in their homes and in prisons. Over the years her congregation continued to spread throughout Ireland, England, Scotland, California, Venezuela, Nigeria, Zambia, Malawi and Australia.


On 22 July 1858, Mary died at the Irish Sisters of Charity convent in Harold’s Cross. However, her funeral Mass took place at the old chapel in Donnybrook, which at that time was located in the present graveyard in the centre of the village. She is buried in the nuns’ graveyard in the grounds of St Mary Magdalen’s in Donnybrook. In recognition of the extraordinary work and life of Mary Aikenhead, the Pope declared her Venerable, which is a step on the way to becoming a saint. Archival material relating to the life of Mother Mary Aikenhead is located in the Irish Sisters of Charity Archives in their convent in Sandymount.


Further Reading


Hallack, C., The Servant of God, The Anthonian Press, Dublin, 1951.


O’Dea, C., Our Lady’s Handmaid, Clonmore & Reynolds, Dublin, 1961.


Rynne, C., Mother Mary Aikenhead, 1787–1858, Veritas, Dublin, 1980.
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Harry Reginald (Reg) Armstrong was born in Dublin to Frederick (Fred) Wrench Armstrong and his wife, Marjorie (née Wilson), who were both from Dublin. His parents were living temporarily in Liverpool at the time of his birth. Reg was an only child. The family returned to Ireland in early 1935. His father, Fred, had participated in motor races, trials and hill climbs in the immediate post-war years, and he gave his son every help and encouragement with his motor cycling career, as indeed, did his mother.


On returning to Dublin, the family lived in Rathfarnham Park, and Reg was educated at High School, then located in Harcourt Street. He started riding motorcycles with his cousin, Harry Lindsay, who taught him to ride. He and Harry joined the Irish Defence Forces for a brief period (1944–1945) near the end of the Emergency during the Second World War. They both operated as dispatch riders in the Army Motorcycle Squadron. Their motivation in joining the Defence Forces may have been to get some petrol, which was severely rationed at that time!


Armstrong married his first wife, Rosemary Adams, from Ballymena, Northern Ireland, at Christ Church Rathgar, in December 1955. They had two daughters, Julie and Lynda. Both daughters now live in England. He and his wife Rosemary divorced in the 1970s, and she returned to Northern Ireland. She died in Belfast on 10 November 2007. In 1974, Armstrong married Eileen Robertson (née Peters), a popular Isle of Man-born opera singer, who died at the age of 98 in 2017 in Douglas, Isle of Man. She had outlived Armstrong by thirty-eight years. They had no children, but she had children from her previous two marriages.


Armstrong’s involvement with motorcycles began at the age of 12, when his father, Fred, gave him £10 to purchase a machine – a 12-year-old JAP-engined Rudge. At first he competed in grass track races and trials in the Dublin area, before making his road race debut in the summer of 1946 at Bangor Castle short circuit meeting in Co. Down. In September 1947, at the age of 19, Armstrong made his Isle of Man debut in the Manx Grand Prix lightweight (250cc) race, in which he finished fifth, riding an Excelsior. The race was marred by the death of fellow Dubliner Benjy Russell, from Kiltiernan, who crashed into a wall near Ramsey while riding a Moto Guzzi entered by Stanley Woods.


Armstrong competed in the Manx Grand Prix again the following year, taking fourth place in the senior race on a Triumph machine. In the junior (350cc) race, his luck ran out 10 miles before the finish, when he had to retire while holding third place. His big break came later, as team managers began to take notice of him, and over the following few years, Armstrong became one of the world’s leading motorcycle road racers. During his racing career, which concluded at the end of the 1956 season, Armstrong rode for all the top teams of the time – AJS, Velocette, Norton, MV Augusta, NSU and Gilera.


Armstrong’s greatest victory came in the 1952 Isle of Man TT when he won the Blue Riband Senior Race on a Norton at an average speed of 92.97mph. The legendary luck of the Irish was with him that day, for just as he came up to take the chequered flag at the finishing line on Glencrutchery Road, the primary chain on his machine snapped and dropped on to the road. Armstrong competed on all the classic circuits in Europe during his Grand Prix career. He was runner-up in the world Road Racing Championship five times. He won a total of seven Grand Prix events between 1952 and 1956. In Ireland, he had wins in the Ulster Grand Prix, the North-West 200, and six victories in the Leinster 200, which was held on the 8.34-mile Wicklow–Rathnew circuit.


Armstrong announced his retirement from motorcycle racing in November 1956 and indicated his intention to take up car racing, which he did with limited success over the following twelve years. However, his ever increasing business commitments prevented him from racing on a regular basis. From as early as 1953 his company, Reg Armstrong Motorcycles, had been assembling NSU machines in their works at 63 Drury Street, Dublin. Production was later moved to larger premises at Liberty Lane (off Kevin Street). By 1958 all of the NSU motorcycles were being produced at his facility in Halston Street, Dublin. The same year, Armstrong was awarded the contract to assemble the new NSU Prinz cars in Ireland. The company expanded and he purchased a 65,000 sq ft premises on Ringsend Road for £30,000 to deal exclusively with car production.


There were now two separate companies, Reg. Armstrong Motors Ltd and Reg Armstrong Motorcycles Ltd. The latter company won the contract to assemble the new Japanese Honda motorcycles in the early 1960s. In November 1962, Armstrongs were appointed to assemble and distribute German Opel Cars in Ireland, and in 1966 they added the American Pontiac cars to their list. The Honda Company invited Armstrong to take on the role of Honda Racing Team manager for the 1962 season, and he continued in that role in 1963. In 1967 Armstrong’s company formed a Northern Ireland subsidiary, Reg Armstrong Motors (Northern Ireland) Limited, in Belfast. This meant that they could distribute Opel cars in Northern Ireland, which it had the licence to assemble and distribute in the Republic of Ireland.


In the mid–1970s, Armstrong’s company began assembling the Mini for British Leyland but soon afterward the Irish Government allowed the importation of fully assembled cars. Unfortunately, this led to the loss of many highly skilled jobs at the Ringsend plant. About 130 assembly workers were made redundant and a group of them occupied the plant in protest. Then there was an embargo on imports of Opels by seven unions associated with the motor assembly industry. However, according to a statement by Armstrong, supplies of Opel spare parts were not affected during the closure of the assembly lines, and deliveries of new Opel vehicles continued. In 1973, Reg Armstrong Ltd became the Republic of Ireland’s agent for AEG-Telefunken, the German television and washing machine manufacturer. This led to the formation of another subsidiary – Reg Armstrong Electronics Ltd based at Broomhill Road in Tallagh.


Armstrong represented Ireland in the 1978 World Clay Pigeon Shooting Championships in Korea. His other hobbies were fishing and shooting. He bred Charolais cattle, and had a great interest in ancient Egyptian architecture. On Saturday, 24 November 1979, after a day’s pheasant shooting in Co. Wicklow, Armstrong was returning to his home at Inchinappa House, in Ashford, when his Opel Senator car crashed at Kilqueeny, near Avoca. No other vehicle was involved in the accident. He was killed instantly. He was 51 years old. The inquest recorded that he died as a result of cardio-respiratory failure due to a fractured skull. He is buried with his parents in the Church of Ireland graveyard at Enniskerry, Co. Wicklow.


Further Reading


Clifford, P., The Art and Science of Motorcycle Road Racing, Hazleton, London, 1985.


Havlin, Harry, Notes on Reg. Armstrong and his Career, Dublin, 2019.


Montgomery, Bob, ‘Past Imperfect’, Irish Times, 22 June 2005.
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William Ashford, the distinguished landscape painter, was born in Birmingham in 1746. Very little is known of his early life in England, but he seems to have had some technical and artistic education there. He came to Ireland to take up a position with the Ordnance Survey Office in 1764. His work for the Ordnance Survey necessitated him travelling throughout Ireland carrying out audits of the armaments and munitions in forts and barracks throughout the country. Perhaps these travels resulted in his interest in landscape painting, at which he came to excel. He was one of the leading landscape painters in Ireland, although his earliest paintings were of flowers and still life. During the eighteenth century the subject matter of painting broadened and landscape paintings, sometimes with classical subject matter, became more common. It appears that topography also became central to the landscape painters of the eighteenth century. Richard, the 7th Viscount Fitzwilliam of Merrion, commissioned William in 1804 to produce six large paintings of his demesne at Mount Merrion. Ashford also completed a folio of twenty-six grey wash drawings of Mount Merrion and Richmond, the English residence of Viscount Fitzwilliam. These are now on display in the Fitzwilliam Museum in Cambridge.


Shortly after he arrived in Ireland, Ashford exhibited at the Society of Artists in William Street. His first landscape was exhibited in 1772 at the Dublin Society and he was awarded a second premium there. His talent was very quickly recognised when in 1773 he exhibited seven paintings at the Society of Arts, where he won first prize. At this time the leading landscape artist in Ireland was Thomas Roberts (1748–1778) but after his death Ashford took his crown. Roberts died in 1777 at the very young age of 28 in Portugal, where he had gone to gain some respite from a galloping consumption. Ashford was elected President of the Irish Society of Artists in 1813 and was then involved in the negotiations that set up the Royal Hibernian Academy (RHA), of which he was a founding member and its first elected president in 1823. He exhibited at the Royal Academy in London from 1775, and with the Society of Artists again in London, from 1777. He also exhibited at the British Institution from 1806. While exhibiting in England, Ashford lived at a number of different addresses in both Dublin and London. Although Ashford did paint some interesting views in, for example, North Wales, the major part of his work was the Irish landscape.


Ashford exhibited at the Royal Academy in London from 1775 and with the Society of Artists again in London from 1777. He also exhibited at the British Institution from 1806 and at various exhibitions held in Dublin between 1800 and 1821. He held an exhibition of his own work, which included his pictures and drawings, in the Dublin Society’s House in Hawkins Street. Anne Crookshank has suggested that Ashford’s work was influenced by painters such as Claude Lorraine and Richard Wilson. Ashford’s output was considerable and many of his works were engraved, in particular Malton’s Views. As an artist, Ashford appears to have had a penchant for topographical views – in particular beautiful parks and grounds of county houses or rivers and valleys. In the latter part of his life he seems to have extended his subject matter to include a number of sea views. His many images of country estates were popular with land-owning patrons, and this led him to becoming one of the most successful Irish landscape painters.


It was during the eighteenth century that it became fashionable for city or country gentlemen to commission sets of views of their estates, houses and gardens. Ashford received many commissions from the landed gentry in Ireland such as the 1st Lord Rossmore, the Earl of Drogheda, the Duke of Leinster, the Earl of Charleville, Viscount Fitzwilliam, the Earl of Bessborough, the Earl of Kilmorey, Lord Rockley and the Hon. William Wellesley-Pole to paint their houses and gardens. Ashford obtained a very large commission from the 7th Viscount Fitzwilliam to paint his large estate and house at Mount Merrion. This appears to have been Ashford’s last set of commissions. The Fitzwilliam commission included six views and a volume of twenty-four drawings that are dated 1806, and they are preserved in the Fitzwilliam Museum in Cambridge.


While exhibiting in England, Ashford lived at a number of different addresses in both Dublin and London. For many years he lived in College Green. Nicola Figgis has suggested that Ashford was involved in art and property dealing from which he acquired some of his wealth and enabled him to commission James Gandon, the leading Irish architect of the day, to build a house for him in Sandymount in Dublin known as Sandymount House. He lived here for most of his life. Originally known as Sandymount House, it later became Sandymount Park House, then Park House and now it is known as Roselyn Park. This building survives today and has been beautifully restored. It is interesting that more recently the Irish Department of Education has decided to base two new schools in Roselyn Park.


William Ashford married, although the name of his wife is not certain. He had two sons and one daughter. His son, Daniel, became an artist but was not as well known as his father. Ashford senior also painted many seascapes, perhaps due to the fact that he lived in Sandymount and looked out on Dublin Bay. William Ashford died at his home in Sandymount on 17 April 1824, aged 78. He is buried in Donnybrook graveyard. After his death, an auction in Dublin saw the sale of his pictures, drawings and sketches.
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Spranger Barry was an Irish actor and theatre manager who was born in Skinner’s Row in Dublin on 23 November 1719. His father, William Barry, a successful silversmith, was warden to the Dublin Goldsmiths Company in 1715–1718, and master in 1718–1719, 1719–1720, and again in 1733–1734. Spranger was named after his paternal grandmother, and he worked with his father for a number of years and then took over the business. His first wife, Anne, provided him with a dowry with which he set up his own silversmith’s business. Unfortunately, throughout his career Barry’s skills as a businessman were poor, and he was quite unsuccessful in his various ventures, and this included his father’s business. With his first wife he had two sons. In appearance, Barry was quite tall for his time, being almost 6ft. He is also reputed to have a powerful speaking voice – a great attribute for an actor. He seems to have always had an interest in acting and the theatre, and first performed on stage at the Theatre Royal in Dublin in 1744.


Barry moved to London and performed on the London Stage in Drury Lane in 1746. He had moved there at the invitation of David Garrick. In London he turned out to be very talented and in a short time he became a well-known Shakespearean actor, rivalling his famous friend, Garrick. His first role was as the leading role in Othello in Drury Lane (1746), which he performed to much acclaim. This was soon followed by Macbeth and Hamlet, which on occasions he alternated with Garrick. Over the years his strength as an actor grew and it is said that he graced the stage with ease and grace and was skilled at dancing and fencing. He appears to have been famous for his good looks as well.


Barry had a large circle of friends in both London and Dublin, which included artists, writers and actors. It is interesting that he brought a young screen painter to London with him from Dublin called Robert Carver. In London, Barry became a friend of Nathaniel Hone, the painter, and was a patron of Joshua Reynolds. His stage performances led Barry to become a favourite of Frederick, Prince of Wales, who was a keen theatregoer, and it was at his request that he took dancing lessons from the Prince of Wales’s family dancing master. His voice was such that he was referred to as the ‘silver-toned Barry’. However, despite the softness of his tone, Barry was also capable of expressing great rage in plays such as Macbeth, Hamlet and King Lear. It seems that his most outstanding performance was that of Othello as well as the aforementioned Shakespearian roles.


Barry was skilled, too, in performing romantic roles such as Romeo, which in 1748 was so popular that it led to a strained relationship with Garrick. Barry then moved to Covent Garden where the two actors’ rivalry on the London stage continued. There he played Romeo, King Lear and Richard III. Two productions of Romeo and Juliet took place at the same time in London, one in Covent Garden, and the other in Drury Lane. Garrick played Romeo in Drury Lane, and Barry took the same role at Covent Garden! At that time, it was said that the public preferred Barry’s performance but in fact, Garrick’s production had a longer run. Barry also took part in a number of comedies during his time in London.


He returned to Dublin in October 1758 and opened his Dublin theatre in Crow Street and later a second theatre in Cork called the Theatre Royal. The construction of the Cork theatre began with the assistance of forty subscriptions of £50 each from members of the Cork gentry. The building was completed in 1760 and was modelled on Barry’s Dublin theatre. During the first year six Shakespearean plays and nine other classics were staged.


The Crow Street Theatre in Dublin was in existence between 1758 and 1820. It had been built by Barry and another actor, Henry Woodward (1714–1777), who had saved £6,000 and had agreed to participate in the project to build a new theatre on the site of an old music hall. Another Irish actor, Charles Macklin (1690–1797), was involved at an early stage, but later withdrew from the project. Macklin is an interesting actor who came from Donegal and was a regular performer at the Theatre Royal in Drury Lane. He is known to have revolutionised the acting profession in the eighteenth century by introducing what was known as a natural style. Barry’s Dublin theatre cost some £22,000 to build and it was considered similar to a contemporary playhouse at Drury Lane in London. Later it became known in Dublin as the Theatre Royal. In Dublin, Barry’s theatre struggled from the onset as a rival to the Smock Alley Theatre, which was the second purpose-built venue in Ireland and dated back to 1662. Initially both of Barry’s theatres were reasonably successful. However, as he was not a very successful businessman, they failed in the long run and he returned to London. Barry’s failure was due in no small part to his taste for high living. He was also an extremely generous man.


It was in the Crow Street Theatre that Barry met Ann Street (1733–1801), who acted under her married name, Mrs Dancer. She and Barry acted in King Lear in 1758 – she played Cordelia to his Lear. She and Barry began a relationship as a result, and they married in London the following year after her husband died. Back in London after the failure of his two theatres in Dublin, Barry made a business deal – a profit-sharing agreement with Samuel Foote (1720–1777), whose company occupied the King’s Theatre. Sometime later he was recruited by David Garrick in 1767 to act in Drury Lane. After his marriage to Ann, they both had successful careers on the stage in London, where she in particular played in all the well-known tragedies. They had one son, also named Spranger Barry. The Barrys worked for a number of years at Drury Lane until they moved to Covent Garden in 1774.


When Barry died in 1777, Ann remained at Covent Garden and married a younger man called Crawford. It has been suggested that some English drama critics considered her acting to be superior to Mrs Siddons, the well-known English actress. She died in London on 29 November 1801 and was buried in in the north cloister of Westminster Abbey beside her husband.
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Sir Alfred Chester Beatty was one of the most distinguished men of his generation. He began his career as a mining engineer, became a well-known philanthropist, and went on to be an art collector specialising in oriental manuscripts and rare books. He bequeathed these collections to Ireland. The Chester Beatty Library now housed in the grounds of Dublin Castle stands as a memorial to him.


Beatty was born in New York in 1875, the youngest of three children of John Cumming Beatty, a banker and stockbroker, and his wife, Hetty. His paternal grandparents were Irish and hailed from Co. Armagh and Co. Laois. Chester Beatty was educated at Westminster School in New York and at Columbia University, where he studied to be a mining engineer. After he graduated in 1898, he headed west and worked initially shovelling rock in mines in Denver, Colorado. He very soon became a supervisor of the Kektonga Silver Mine. There he met one of the most respected mining engineers in the American West, T.A. Rickard, who became his mentor and friend. It was he who introduced him to his wife, Grace Madeleine (née Rickard), whom Beatty married in 1900. From working in the mines, Beatty acquired silicosis, an occupational lung disease, which remained with him all of his life. In 1903, he became a member of the management team of the Guggenheim Exploration Company and as a result he became a very wealthy man. He later left this company and set himself up in New York as an independent mining consultant. In 1907, at the age of 32, Beatty was a millionaire, and a director of a number of American mining companies. While in Denver, Beatty had begun collecting stamps, which ultimately became an award-winning collection. He also developed an interest in collecting Chinese snuff bottles and Japanese netsuke.


In 1911, Grace (also known as Ninette) died suddenly of typhoid fever, leaving him with two young children. A year later, he decided to move with his young family to London and he set up his own mining company there called Selection Trust Ltd. Though small at first, it soon became very successful, with interests in many countries including Russia, The Gold Coast and Sierra Leone. However, it was in Northern Rhodesia and the Belgian Congo that he made his fortune while exploring the copper belt. In London, he bought Baroda House in Kensington Palace Gardens, and in the following year he remarried. His new wife was Edith Stone, a divorcee, and a daughter of John Dunne of New York. He and his new wife became avid collectors and they travelled worldwide acquiring new material. He found the climate of Egypt beneficial to his health problems, and he purchased a house in Cairo in 1914, returning every winter until 1939 and the outbreak of the Second World War. It was from there that he began acquiring his marvellous collection of Islamic books and manuscripts. A trip to Japan and China developed his interest in Japanese and Chinese manuscripts and artefacts, and he continued to purchase these throughout his life. He became well known on the international art scene for his purchasing power, and as his reputation grew so did his network of advisors and agents. In 1925, Beatty began a robust partnership with the British Museum, with him and his wife becoming benefactors and trustees and donating nineteen ancient Egyptian papyri.


By 1931, Beatty was recognised as a great collector of books and manuscripts, and about that time he acquired an important collection of biblical manuscripts known now as the Chester Beatty Biblical Papyri. Gradually, his reputation as a collector grew, while his wife established herself as a serious collector in her own right. She focused on buying Impressionist and Post-Impressionist paintings and French furniture. In 1933, Beatty became a naturalised British citizen and became well known as a patron of the arts and a philanthropist. He endowed cancer research and financed a research institute at the Royal Marsden Hospital in London. He became a great benefactor of hospitals and medical research in general. Focusing for most of his life on collecting exceptional Islamic, East Asian and biblical manuscripts, Beatty also acquired outstanding Western printed books, old master prints, and Southeast Asian, Tibetan, Ethiopian and Armenian holdings of great importance.


During the Second World War, Beatty served on a number of committees in Britain and contributed a large amount of raw materials to the Allies, for which he was later knighted. He was shocked at the results of the general election in Britain in 1945, when a Labour Government was returned to power. Changes took place in Britain with rising taxes and the currency restrictions became irritating to him. He also had a great dislike of any form of socialism. His relationship with the British Museum became strained – he had intended giving his entire collection to them, but a new director of the museum insisted on deciding for himself if Beatty’s collection could meet its quality standards. He failed to assure Beatty that his collection would remain intact, but instead would be distributed to different museum departments.


Beatty’s son bought a home in Co. Kildare in 1948, and this may have caused Beatty to consider Ireland as a home for himself and for his collections. He had visited Dublin in 1937 and had gained a favourable impression of the place. In 1949, he decided to move to the city – he was impressed by Ireland’s lower income tax regime and by the enthusiasm of the Irish Government officials he met with in relation to relocating his library and collections. He bought a large house for himself at No. 10 Ailesbury Road and a site for his Library at No. 20 Shrewsbury Road. In moving to Dublin he brought his librarian, publisher, bank managers, book restorer and their families with him. His move to Ireland caused a mini sensation in British financial circles as it was feared that other powerful people might follow him. His estranged wife, Edith, did not move to Dublin but remained in London. Despite his love for Dublin, for the rest of his life Beatty spent only four months there, preferring the south of France for the winters.


In 1950, Beatty presented a bequest of ninety-three French paintings to the National Gallery of Ireland. He also presented a collection of oriental weapons and armoury to the Military Museum in the Curragh Camp. His greatest donation to Ireland was the Chester Beatty Library. Beatty was determined that his library would remain intact after his death. He worked on and was successful in securing exemption from estate duties for his books, manuscripts and other library materials. Today, the Chester Beatty Library has been designated as a National Cultural Institution, and is a public charitable trust under his will. The library is over 80 per cent funded by the Department of Culture Heritage and the Gaeltacht, and it is also a registered public sector body. In Ireland, Beatty continued his philanthropic activities to provide thousands of pounds to hospitals and other medical charities.


Ireland honoured Sir Alfred Chester Beatty with honorary doctorates from Trinity College and the National University of Ireland. He became a Freeman of the City of Dublin in 1956, and he also became the first honorary Irish citizen. After his death in Monte Carlo on 19 January 1968, he was awarded a state funeral by the Government of the day – the first person born outside Ireland to receive this honour. He is buried in Glasnevin Cemetery.
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Beatrice Behan was born in Dublin on 31 December 1925 to Cecil Ffrench Salkeld and Irma Taesler, a native of Berlin. She was educated at Pembroke School, the Loreto Convent on St Stephen’s Green and at the National College of Art and Design. She first met Brendan Behan, the well-known writer (whom she later married), when she was a 17-year-old schoolgirl at her home on the Morehampton Road in Donnybrook. Her father, Cecil Salkeld, had met him in a pub and was fascinated by Brendan’s knowledge of literature and politics, bringing him home to further their discussions. The young Beatrice was very familiar with the various artists and writers her father would bring home from time to time. The family also had a small house in Glencree, Co. Wicklow, and Beatrice spent time there when she was young. On graduating from the College of Art, Beatrice became a botanical assistant in the National Museum of Ireland, where she worked between 1949 and 1955. She also spent time in Italy, studying in Florence, Siena and Milan. Her paintings were shown at the Royal Hibernian Academy (RHA) annual exhibitions between 1948 and 1950. She also exhibited at the Oireachtas Exhibition of 1957 and 1958 as well as the Irish Living Art Exhibition in 1959 and in New York in 1969 and in 1970.


Over the years, Beatrice met Brendan regularly in her family home on Morehampton Road. Their close relationship dated from the time she attended the premiere of The Quare Fellow, Brendan’s play, which was produced at the Pike Theatre in November 1954. They soon found out that they had a number of friends in common, and he very quickly asked her out. When she told her family that they were to get married, her father, Cecil, warned her that Behan was a confirmed drinker and pub-goer, who would not change his bad habits after marriage. However, she was prepared to risk it and they were married in the Church of the Sacred Heart Donnybrook on 16 February 1955. The marriage took place at 7.30 a.m. on a Saturday morning. It was an unusual wedding in that none of Brendan’s family were present. However, Beatrice’s sister, Celia, acted as bridesmaid. After the ceremony, the small party celebrated in about four different pubs in Dublin. The first home for Brendan and Beatrice was a garden flat at 18 Waterloo Road. From there they moved to a ground-floor flat at 15 Herbert Street.


Beatrice Behan had a huge influence on the work and life of her husband. She provided a stable environment for him at their home on Anglesea Road, where they lived for most of their married life. This enabled him to produce his autobiography/memoir The Borstal Boy in 1958, and his play The Hostage in 1959. In 1963, Beatrice illustrated one of his books, Hold Your Hour and Have Another. She later worked with Alan Simpson on the revision of Brendan’s unfinished play, Richard’s Cork Leg. There is some suggestion that in the early days of their relationship, Brendan found her aloof and considered she was a snob. This was untrue, for in fact, she was quite shy. In the early days of her marriage to Brendan, Beatrice worked as a horticultural illustrator for the Irish Times in order to supplement their income. Though Anglesea Road was their base in Dublin, Beatrice led quite a nomadic life with Brendan, moving from London to Paris and also to New York, which he loved. This nomadic lifestyle was in part caused by his publicists, who required him to appear at performances of his plays in both Europe and in the United States. It appears he found all the publicity in relation to his writings quite tiring.


Brendan and Beatrice’s daughter, Blanaid, was born in 1963, just before Brendan died, so Blanaid grew up not knowing her father. She was called after Beatrice’s grandmother, Blanaid Salkeld, who was a well-known poet, dramatist and actress. Blanaid was educated in Ireland but left the country when she was 21 years old, to work in England as a television producer. She worked in television until her two sons were born. Blanaid now helps to run her husband’s (Matthew Walker) property company. Both of her sons are now at university, one of whom, Guy, is a student at Trinity College, Dublin.


Brendan’s drinking was the bane of Beatrice’s life, but she appears to have been extremely tolerant of this and his other outlandish behaviour. She was always there for him, living in his shadow for all their married life. According to her book My Life with Brendan (1973), she regarded him as ‘a great loveable genius’. After Brendan’s death, she devoted herself to bringing up Blanaid. However, there were major financial problems for her after Brendan died as the Government sent her a very hefty tax bill. This she managed to pay by letting out half of their house in Anglesea Road. As a widow, she enjoyed socialising with people interested in talking to her about Brendan. Her final relationship was with Cathal Goulding (1923–1998), who was Chief of Staff of the IRA and the Official IRA. With him she had a son, Paudge Behan, who in later life became a successful actor. The Behan home in Anglesea Road was a redbrick, semi-detached late Victorian house, which Brendan had bought for her in 1959 for £1,400 Irish. Beatrice Behan died in this house on 9 March 1993. She is buried in Glasnevin Cemetery along with Brendan.
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